
	
	
	

	

 
April 19, 2018 

 
BY ELECTRONIC MAIL AND  

CERTIFIED U.S. MAIL RETURN RECEIPT REQUESTED 
 
David Berry, Director 
Western Regional Office 
U.S. Office of Surface Mining Reclamation and Enforcement 
1999 Broadway, Suite 3320 
Denver, CO 80202-3050 
dberry@osmre.gov   
 
Re:  Citizen Complaint and Request for Cessation Order Under the Surface Mining 

Control and Reclamation Act Over Failure to Comply with Hydrologic Protection 
and Clean Water Standards at Rosebud Mine in Colstrip, Montana 

 
Pursuant to the Surface Mining Control and Reclamation Act (“SMCRA”), 30 U.S.C. §§ 

1267(h)(1) and 1271(a)(1), and SMCRA implementing regulations, 30 C.F.R. § 842.12(a), 
WildEarth Guardians (“Guardians”) hereby submits the following citizen complaint to inform 
the Office of Surface Mining Reclamation and Enforcement (“OSMRE”) that violations of 
SMCRA appear to be occurring in Montana at the Rosebud Coal Mine, which is owned and 
operated by Western Energy Company, a subsidiary of Westmoreland Coal Company, Montana 
Permit numbers: C1986003A, C1984003B, C1985003C (for applicable Areas A, B, and C, as 
discussed in the complaint).  

 
We request that OSMRE inspect and take appropriate action to address these violations 

pursuant to 30 C.F.R. § 842.11. Furthermore, because it appears that Westmoreland’s continued 
operations in violation of hydrologic performance standards may reasonably cause significant 
and imminent environmental harm to water resources in the area, we request that OSMRE issue a 
cessation order pursuant to 30 C.F.R. § 843.11(a)(1)(ii). 

 
At issue is the fact that Westmoreland has violated and continues to violate performance 

standards related to hydrologic criteria at the Rosebud Coal Mine. Specifically, Westmoreland’s 
coal mining operations have de-watered a nearby creek, in violation of SMCRA performance 
standards and SMCRA regulations. Consequently, because Westmoreland has caused material 
damage to a creek outside of the permit area, Westmoreland has violated and continues to violate 
both SMCRA, SMCRA performance standards, and Montana regulations. OSMRE must take 
measures as required by statute to inspect these violations and take appropriate action. 
 

I. LEGAL BACKGROUND 
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SMCRA expressly mandates that OSM regulate the effects of surface coal mining 

operations on groundwater. 30 U.S.C. §§ 1257(b)(11) (requiring that the determination of 
probable hydrologic consequences in each permit application address “the quantity and quality of 
water in surface and ground water systems”); 1258(a)(13) (requiring that the reclamation plan 
included in each permit application describe in detail the measures to be taken during mining and 
reclamation to assure the protection of the quality and quantity of surface and ground water 
systems, both on- and off-site”); 1265(b)(10).  

 
SMCRA and its implementing regulations further protect a mining operation area’s 

hydrologic balance, both at the mine site as well as the surrounding mine area. 30 U.S.C. §§ 
1265(b)(10), 1266(b)(9). Hydrologic balance “encompasses the dynamic relationships among 
precipitation, runoff, evaporation, and changes in ground and surface water storage.” Ohio River 
Valley Envtl. Coal., Inc. v. Salazar, 466 F. App'x 161, 163–64 (4th Cir. 2012). Specifically, 
SMCRA and the Montana Strip and Underground Mine Reclamation Act are required to “protect 
society and the environment from the adverse effects of surface coal mining” by assuring, among 
other things, that material damage to water resources “will not result.” 30 U.S.C. § 1202(a); 
ARM 17.24.631(1).   
 
 "Material damage" means, with respect to protection of the hydrologic balance, 
degradation or reduction by coal mining and reclamation operations of the quality or quantity of 
water outside of the permit area in a manner that beneficial uses of water are adversely affected, 
water quality standards are violated. Violation of a water quality standard, whether or not an 
existing water use is affected, is material damage. Under Montana law, “material damage” is 
defined to include “[v]iolation of a water quality standard.” § 82-4-203(31), MCA.1 Under the 
Clean Water Act water quality standards consist of “designated use or uses for waters” and 
“water quality criteria for such waters based upon such uses.” 40 C.F.R. § 131.3(i) (defining 
“water quality standards” under the Clean Water Act). In many cases, the water quality standard 
is measured by whether it can provide a beneficial use for aquatic life. The removal of water 
from a creek necessarily prevents any use of the water, including the support of aquatic life, and 
therefore also violates water quality standards. PUD No. 1 of Jefferson Cty. v. Washington Dep’t 
of Ecology, 511 U.S. 700, 70 (1994). Further, specific to Montana, a reduction in the flow of the 
creek beyond 10 percent violates Montana water quality standards. See Save Our Cabinets v. 
U.S. Dep’t of Agric., No. CV-16-53-M-DWM, ___ F. Supp. 3d ___ (D. Mont. May 5, 2017); 33 
U.S.C. § 1323(a); ARM 17.30.715(1).  
 

As it follows, dewatering an intermittent to perennial stream violates water quality 
standards and constitutes material damage. “No effect on related environmental values is more 
adverse than obliteration […] [b]ecause there is no stream, there is no water quality.” Bragg v. 

                                                
1 A court decision supports the conclusion that the material damage criteria must specifically include the State’s 
water quality standards. See, Ohio River Valley Envt’l Coalition, Inc. v. Castle, No. 3:00-CV-58 (S.D.W.Va. June 
15, 2000) (Memorandum Opinion and Order at 13) (“Given the use of the term ‘material damage’ and its context in 
the statute, Congress intended that [the West Virginia state regulatory authority under SMCRA] set out in writing 
[…] the limits and ranges above which damage will be considered material. Those limits must include the State’s 
water quality standards”). 
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Robertson, 72 F. Supp. 2d 642, 662 (S.D. W.Va. 1999), reversed on other grounds sub nom, 
Bragg v. W. Va. Coal Ass’n, 248 F.3d 275 (4th Cir. 2001).2 
 

OSMRE is required to take a series of steps to correct “disturbances which have occurred 
to the hydrologic balance” and establish measures to minimize “future disturbances to hydrologic 
balance” during and after mining operations. See Muskingum Mining Co. v. Office of Surface 
Mining Reclamation and Enforcement, 113 IBLA 352, 355 (1990) (OSMRE issued a Notice of 
Violation to a mining operator for allegedly failing to conduct operations to minimize 
disturbance to the hydrologic balance in permit and adjacent areas).  

 
Therefore, if a mine operator causes material damage to water resources, including 

reducing the ability to support aquatic life, or eliminating the resource completely, the operator 
violates SMCRA performance standards. This triggers OSMRE to take appropriate action to 
resolve the matter, including issuing a NOV or cessation order to the operator. See 30 C.F.R. §§ 
843.11(a)(2) and 843.12(a)(2). 
 
 

II. FACTUAL BACKGROUND 
 

The Rosebud mine covers 25,000 acres of land in Montana, crossing several water 
sources including Rosebud Creek and Armells Creek, which flow north to the Yellowstone 
River. Most of the mining operations have occurred in the East Fork Armells Creek basin, which 
have impacted the ground and surface water there, critically de-watering the creek in Section 15. 
Historically, the Department, as well as Westmoreland, have described East Fork Armells Creek 
upstream of Colstrip as an intermittent or perennial stream, with groundwater contributing to the 
flow of the creek. Since mining has commenced at the Rosebud Mine, however, the creek’s fork 
in Section 15 has been completely de-watered by mining activities.3 The below photo is a map of 
the mine areas and more specifically, East Fork Armells Creek headwaters, to provide 
perspective as to the proximity of the mine to the headwaters and section 15 of the dewatered 
creek.  
 

                                                
2 Similarly, before the rule was repealed on February 16, 2017, the Stream Protection Rule stated that a regulatory 
authority “may not approved any proposed operation that is predicted to cause subsidence that would result in the 
dewatering of perennial of intermittent streams. Office of Surface Mining Reclamation and Enforcement’s 
(OSMRE’s) proposed “Stream Protection Rule,” 80 Fed. Reg. 44,436 at 44,525/3 (July 27, 2015).  
3 Specifically, the reach between areas B and C in section 15, township 2 North 40 East. 
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Decl. of Dr. Michael Nicklin, In Re; Appeal Amendment AM4 Western Energy Co., Rosebud 
Strip Mine Area B Permit No. C1984003B, BER 2016-03-SM, Exhibit B.  
 

1. The East Fork Armells is an Intermittent to Perennial Stream 
 
As a threshold matter, both the Department and Westmoreland have stated the East Fork 

Armells Creek was historically intermittent to perennial, receiving groundwater discharge from 
the Rosebud coal aquifer. In its probable hydrologic consequences report for 1986, 
Westmoreland stated:  

 
East Fork Armells Creek contains two short segments which have continuous base 
flow during much of the year ranging from no flow to about 30 gpm [gallons per 
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minute] (within Sections 8 and 15, T1N, R40E). The source of these discharges is 
believed to be alluvium, with contribution from Rosebud Coal in Section 15.   
 

Westmoreland, Probable Hydrologic Consequences Report (1986), at 157, attached as Exhibit 1.  
 

More recently, in its 1995 cumulative hydrologic impact assessment for an earlier Area B 
amendment, the Department described adjacent “intermittent flow reaches,” including section 
15, at issue here. See Montana Dep’t of Envtl. Quality, Cumulative Hydrologic Impact 
Assessment Area B, Attachment 1: Western Energy Company B Amendment CHIA; Surface 
Water, at 4 (1995), attached as Exhibit 2.  
 

Thus, the East Fork Armells creek reach in section 15 has been historically considered 
intermittent to perennial.  
 

2. The East Fork Armells Creek Has Been De-Watered, Materially Damaging the Creek 
 
Coal mining operation cause serious damage to waterways. The evidence of the 

dewatering of East Fork Armells Creek is clear. Both the Department and Westmoreland have 
acknowledged that a section of the East Fork Armells Creek in Section 15 was intermittent to 
perennial and both the Department and Westmoreland have since reported that this same portion 
of the creek is now ephemeral. See Montana Dep’t of Envtl. Quality, Respondent’s Responses to 
Petitioners’ Requests for Production, Case No. BER 2016-03 SM at 50-51, attached as Exhibit 3; 
see also Montana Dep’t of Envtl. Quality, Western Energy Company Rosebud Mine, Cumulative 
Hydrologic Impact Assessment, Amendment AM4 (December 4, 2015) at 9-9 (“In field visits in 
2014, DEQ staff observed this area as a dry grassy channel bottom with some riparian trees.”), 
attached as Exhibit 4.  

 
Evidence strongly indicates that mining at Rosebud has reduced the flow of East Fork 

Armells Creek. In its Probable Hydrologic Consequences report for the AM4 Amendment at the 
mine, Westmoreland noted that field survey of the East Fork Armells Segment in 2014, “showed 
no flow” in this particular reach and that it was possible “that the change in flow [i.e., “no flow”] 
is a result of mine related dewatering.” Comprehensive Evaluation of Probable Hydrologic 
Consequences: Areas A, B, and C Western Energy Rosebud Mine, Prepared for Western Energy 
Company by Nicklin Earth & Water (January 2014) at 28, 29. The same report noted that “given 
the decreased water levels in alluvial wells between Areas B and C, it is possible that the change 
in flow is a result of mine related dewatering.” Id. Montana DEQ noted that alluvial wells 
adjacent to this reach recorded “steep declines” when Westmoreland mined the Rosebud coal 
seam and the aquifer in the 1990’s. See Montana Dep’t of Envtl. Quality, Western Energy 
Company Rosebud Mine, Cumulative Hydrologic Impact Assessment, Amendment AM4 
(December 4, 2015) at 9-10, see Exhibit 4. Since strip-mining has commenced along this region, 
the alluvium has been completely dried. Id.  

 
Based on Westmoreland’s and the Department’s assessments of the East Fork Armells 

Creek, there is no question that Westmoreland dewatered an intermittent to perennial section of 
the Creek by reducing the aquifer that provided the water to the stream. By dewatering this 
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creek, Westmoreland has caused material damage outside of the permit area, in violation of both 
Montana regulation ARM 17.24.631(1) and SMCRA, 30 U.S.C. § 1260(b)(3). 

 
3. Rosebud Mine is Causing Material Damage by Violating Water Quality Standards.  

 
East Armells Fork Creek has not only been dewatered in certain sections by mining 

operations at Rosebud, it is also not meeting water quality standards for iron in other sections. 
See Montana DEQ – Water Quality Standards Attainment Record (2018), available at: 
http://deq.mt.gov/Portals/112/Water/WQPB/CWAIC/Reports/2018/MT42K002_110.pdf.  

 
Section 402 of the Clean Water Act prohibits the discharge of effluent into a navigable 

body of water unless the point source obtains a National Pollution Discharge Elimination System 
(“NPDES”) permit. 33 U.S.C. § 1342(k) (2014). A NPDES permit must comply with water 
quality standards for that state. Id. So it follows that a permittee violates the Clean Water Act and 
water quality standards for the state when it discharges pollutants in excess of the levels 
specified in the permit. Id.; see also 40 C.F.R. § 122.41(a). 
 

Here, recent monitoring shows that the Westmoreland’s mining operations have violated 
its permit limits, specifically for iron. Permit MT0023965 specifies a maximum annual load of 
iron to enter East Fork Armells Creek and in 2017 Westmoreland exceeded total maximum daily 
load limits by over 3,000% and 5,000%. See Environmental Protection Agency, Enforcement 
and Compliance History Online, Detailed Facility Report – Rosebud Mine, available at: 
https://echo.epa.gov/trends/loading-tool/reports/dmr-pollutant-
loading?permit_id=MT0023965&year=2017 (showing an iron violation of over 3,000% in Top 
Pollutants by Pounds and a 5,000% violation in Top Pollutants by Toxic-Weighted Pounds for 
2017 columns), attached as Exhibit 5.  

 
Due to these exceedances, Westmoreland is in continuing violation of its National 

Pollution Discharge Elimination System (“NPDES”) permit and therefore violating water quality 
standards, and SMCRA performance standards. 
 

III. VIOLATIONS OF SMCRA 
 

One of SMCRA’s most basic protections is that of the hydrologic balance surrounding 
mining operations. SMCRA states clearly that “material damage” to the balance outside each 
permit area must be prevented. 30 U.S.C. § 1260(b)(3).  

 
Here, there is no question that Westmoreland’s mining operations have dewatered the 

historically intermittent to perennial East Fork Armells Creek in section 15. As noted, removing 
the water from a creek necessarily prevents any use of the creek, violating water quality 
standards. PUD No. 1 of Jefferson Cty. v. Washington Dep’t of Ecology, 511 U.S. 700, 70 
(1994). Here, it is also obvious that Westmoreland’s mining operations are exceeding their 
NPDES permit limits, violating water quality standards. A violation of water quality standards, 
such as the dewatering of East Fork Armells Creek or a blatant violation of a permit, constitutes 
material damage under state implementing regulations. See § 82-4-203(31), MCA. Mining 
operations which cause material damage to the waterway, such as the material damage caused by 
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Westmoreland, violate section 510(b)(3) of SMCRA. Thus, Westmoreland’s continued mining 
operations are squarely in violation of SMCRA and its implementing regulations, as well as state 
regulations which protect valuable water quality. 
 

Where there is reason to believe that a violation of SMCRA or SMCRA regulations 
exists, OSMRE is required to notify the state regulatory authority pursuant to 30 C.F.R. 
§ 842.11(b)(1)(ii)(B). Where a state fails to respond within 10 days, or otherwise fails to take 
appropriate action, OSMRE must conduct an inspection of mining operations. If a violation is 
found as a result of an inspection, OSMRE must issue a “notice of violation” pursuant to 30 
C.F.R. § 843.12(a) to remedy the violations.  

 
Based on the aforementioned information, there is reason to believe that Westmoreland is 

in violation of SMCRA, SMCRA implementing regulations, and State of Montana coal mining 
laws and regulations. 
 

Accordingly, OSMRE must notify Montana regulatory authorities, conduct any necessary 
inspections, and take appropriate action to rectify these violations. Given that Westmoreland’s 
ongoing violations of hydrologic performance standards may reasonably cause significant and 
imminent environmental harm to water resources in the area, we request that OSMRE also issue 
a cessation order pursuant to 30 C.F.R. § 843.11(a)(1)(ii). 

 
We look forward to your prompt attention and action in this matter.  

 
Sincerely,  
 

 
Shannon Hughes, Esq.  
Climate Guardian 
WildEarth Guardians 
2590 Walnut Street 
Denver, CO 80205 
Shughes@wildearthguardians.org 

 
 
cc: (by hard copy and electronic mail): 
 

Tom Livers, Director  
Christopher Dorrington, Air, Energy & Mining Division Administrator 
Montana Department of Environmental Quality  
Land Quality Division  
Lee Metcalf Building 
1520 E. 6th Ave.  
Helena, Montana, 59601  
tlivers@mt.gov   
CDorrington2@mt.gov  


